IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLOR

DANNY HAROLD ROLLING,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

IDA	RECEIVED
	MARSHAL'S OFFICE
DATE	1-22-96
TIME	23:50
INITIA CASE NC	83,638 RN PJ

\mathbf{F}	Ι	L	E	D
	SID	J. W	HITE	
	JAN	22	1996	V
CLER By	K, SUI			URT
	Offici D	oputy	Glerk	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLA. BAR NO. 271543

PAULA S. SAUNDERS FLA. BAR NO. 308846

MICHAEL WASSERMAN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLA. BAR NO. 0527594

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of five death sentences. References to the eighteen-volume record on appeal are designated by "R" and the page number. References to the transcript of the penalty phase proceedings (Volumes 1-37) and motion hearings (Volumes 38-76) are designated by "T" and the page number. References to the nine-volume supplemental record are designated by "SR" and the page number. Other references are as noted in the brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 15, 1991, the grand jury of Alachua County, Florida, indicted appellant, Danny Harold Rolling, on five counts of first-degree murder, three counts of sexual battery, and three counts of armed burglary of dwelling with battery. (R 12-18).

The charges arose from the August 1990 homicides of five college students on three different days and at three different residences in Gainesville, Florida. All proceedings were before Alachua County Circuit Judge Stan R. Morris.

On June 9, 1992, Rolling entered a plea of not guilty to all counts. (R 95, T 5289). On July 2, 1992, Rolling filed a motion to dismiss the grand jury indictment and impanel a new grand jury outside the Eighth Judicial Circuit. (R 96-97). A hearing was held July 30, 1992, and on August 14, 1992, the court denied the motion. (R 137).

On May 7, 1993, Rolling filed a motion to sever the counts of the indictment alleged to have occurred at each residence and conduct separate trials for each episode. (R 622-623). A hearing was held August 12-13, 1993 (T 5877-6101), and on September 17, 1993, the trial court issued a written order denying the motion. (R 804-812). Prior to the penalty phase, Rolling renewed the motion to sever for purposes of the penalty phase recommendation. (R 2276, T 4-6). The trial court orally denied the motion. (T 8-9).

On September 14, 1993, Rolling filed a motion to suppress physical evidence collected at Rolling's campsite in Gainesville, asserting that the articles were seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and provisions

of the Florida Constitution. (R 813-815). An amended motion to suppress was filed October 4, 1993. (R 922-924). A hearing was held October 28-29, 1993 (T 6206-6446), and on November 19, 1993, the trial court issued a written order denying the motion. (R 1772-1783).

On October 29, 1993, Rolling filed a motion to suppress statements he made to law enforcement officers on January 31 and February 4, 1993, at Florida State Prison, arguing that the statements were obtained in violation of his Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights under the United States Constitution and analogous rights under the Florida Constitution. (R 1611-1612). A hearing was held November 15-19, 1993 (T 6556-6880, 7465-7806), and on December 30, 1993, the trial court issued a written order denying the motion. (SR 1415-1452).

On February 15, 1994, the day set for trial, Rolling changed his plea to guilty on all counts. (R 2237-2240, 2243). The trial court accepted the plea and adjudicated him guilty on all counts. (SR 1481-1506).

Jury selection for the penalty phase began February 16, 1994. (T 1). On February 25, 1994, during jury selection proceedings, Rolling filed a motion for change of venue. (R 2388). After a hearing on February 28, 1994 (T 7269-7311), the trial court orally denied the motion. (T 26-42). The court

filed its written order on May 20, 1994. (R 3258-3267).

The penalty phase of the trial took place March 7-24, 1994. Following deliberations, the jury returned with an advisory recommendation of the death sentence for each homicide by a vote of 12 to 0. (R 2905-2908, T 5163-5165).

On March 29, 1994, the parties presented additional evidence and argument to the trial judge. The defense presented a videotaped statement by relatives and friends of Mr. Rolling, an audiotaped statement by a former girlfriend, and the depositions of Rolling's aunt, Artie Mae Strosier, and his former employer, Truman Cooley. (T 8368, 3/29/94 Hearing Exhibits 1-5). Rolling made a brief statement to the court expressing regret and sorrow for the suffering he caused. (T 8391). The state proffered victim impact statements from family and friends of the victims.¹ (T 8393).

The final sentencing hearing was on April 20, 1994. (T 7316). For each of the five homicides,² the court imposed a sentence of death, finding four aggravating circumstances applicable to each homicide: prior conviction of a violent

¹The trial judge did not read or consider the victim impact letters in determining sentence. (R 3199).

²The court imposed life sentences for each of the other counts. The sentences imposed as to each episode were imposed concurrently to each other and consecutively to the sentences imposed as to the other episodes and to any other sentences Rolling was currently serving. (T 7322).

felony; cold, calculated, and premeditated; heinous, atrocious, and cruel; and committed during a burglary or sexual battery. In mitigation, the trial judge found as statutory mitigating factors that Rolling had the emotional age of a fifteen-year-old and that he committed the crimes while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. As nonstatutory mitigating factors, the trial judge found: (1) Rolling came from a dysfunctional family and suffered physical and mental abuse during his childhood and this background contributed to his mental condition at the time of the offense; (2) Rolling cooperated with law enforcement officers by confessing and entering a guilty plea, thereby saving the criminal justice system time and expense; (3) Rolling felt remorse for his actions; (4) Rolling's family has a history of mental illness; and (5) Rolling's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was impaired because of his mental illness. (T 7325).

Notice of appeal was timely filed April 29, 1994. (R 3236). This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, s. (3)(b)(1), Fla. Const.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. <u>Penalty Phase³ - State's Case-in-Chief</u>

³A summary of the evidence relevant to the Fourth Amendment suppression hearing is included in Issue III. The evidence relevant to the Sixth Amendment suppression hearing is included in Issue II. The evidence relevant to the motion for change of venue is included in

1. The Prior Convictions

The state introduced into evidence Rolling's judgments and sentences for the following crimes: two counts of armed robbery in Georgia, dated June 1979; one count of robbery in Alabama, dated February 1980; one count of armed robbery in Mississippi, dated March 1986; robbery with firearm in Florida, dated September 1991; three counts of robbery with firearm, attempted robbery with firearm, two counts of aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer in Florida, dated October 1991; and armed bank robbery in Florida, dated August 1991. (T 2670-2675).

2. Pre-Gainesville

Legran Hewitt, an investigator with the Student Homicide Task Force (hereinafter "Task Force"), testified that Danny Rolling arrived in Gainesville on August 18, 1990, and departed August 30, 1990. (T 2680). A motel registration card from the University Inn in Gainesville, bearing the name Michael Kennedy and dated August 18-23, 1990, was introduced into evidence. (T 2681-2682). A handwriting expert identified the handwriting on the motel folio as Danny Rolling's. (T 3548).

Cindy Barnard, another Task Force agent, testified that a Taurus 9 millimeter handgun seized from Rolling's campsite in Gainesville was traced through previous owners to a Robert Ford

Issue I.

in Sarasota. Ford sold the gun on July 28 or 29 to a Michael Kennedy, whom Ford identified from a photographic lineup as Danny Rolling. (T 2684-2685). Barnard also testified that a pair of eyeglasses found at the campsite were purchased at a Lens Crafters in Sarasota, Florida, by Danny Rolling, identifying himself as Michael Kennedy. A woman named Lola Seaman, who visited Rolling in his motel room in Sarasota and walked in on him while he was tape recording, identified the woman's voice on a tape found at Rolling's campsite as her voice. Seaman also saw Rolling in possession of a ten-inch hunting knife. (T 2687-2688).

Frank Troy, another member of the Task Force, testified that Michael Kennedy had stayed at the Travel Lodge in the 600 block of West Tennessee Street, in Tallahassee, Florida. A motel registration card bearing the name Michael Kennedy and dated July 17-18, 1990, was introduced into evidence. (T 2691-2692). A handwriting expert identified the handwriting on the document as Danny Rolling's. (T 3549). A store receipt for a Ka-Bar knife purchased at the Army-Navy store in Tallahassee on July 18, 1990, was introduced into evidence. (T 2692-2694). A Ka-Bar knife purchased by Frank Troy on April 26, 1993, from the same Army/Navy store was introduced into evidence. (T 2696-2702). Beth Norman, the store manager, testified the knife sold to agent

Troy was an exact replica of the knife sold on July 18, 1990. (T 2702).

3. <u>The Homicides</u>

The murders took place on three different nights at three different apartment complexes. Christina Powell and Sonya Larson were killed in the Williamsburg Apartments in the predawn hours of Friday, August 24, 1990. Powell's and Larson's bodies were found around 3 p.m. on Sunday, August 26. Christa Hoyt was killed at her duplex on SW 24th Avenue on Saturday, August 25, sometime after 10 p.m. Her body was discovered around 1 a.m. on Monday, August 27. Tracy Paules and Manual Taboada were killed at the Gatorwood Apartments in the early morning hours of Monday, August 27. Paules's and Taboada's bodies were discovered between 7 and 8 a.m. on Tuesday, August 28. State's Exhibit 8.

Crime Scene 1

Sonya Larson and Christina Powell were last seen on Thursday evening, August 25. (T 2725-2726). The following Sunday afternoon, the maintenance man of the Williamsburg Apartments called police in response to the concerns of one of the girl's parents. Officer Barber broke down a door leading into the upstairs of the apartment and discovered Larson's body on a bed upstairs and Powell's body on the living room floor downstairs. (T 2742-2750).

Crime scene investigators identified the rear dining room door on the first floor of the apartment, which was the second floor of the complex, as the point of entry. (T 2765, 2821). The dining room door was the only unlocked door⁴ in the apartment; the other doors were secured with night chains and dead bolts. (T 2821). The wood face and door frame edge of the dining room door were damaged, as evidenced by fresh pry marks. (T 2829-2830).

Upstairs, an undamaged bra was found placed neatly across some books on the top of some shelves in the room where Larson's body was found. (T 2808-2809, 2845). A bag of clothing, containing a gray t-shirt, which appeared to have blood on it, was found above Larson's left knee. (T 2811, 2846). Her panties were against the closet door. (T 2811). Larson's shirt, which was pulled up around her neck, had multiple sharp tears that were consistent with the wounds on her body. (T 2815). The major portion of the blood on the bed was two to three feet above Larson's head. There were indications in the blood that something had been dragged through it after the injuries were sustained. (T 2813).

Downstairs, a pair of shorts was found in the hallway

⁴The dining room door, though unlocked, required force to open because the frame was warped. (T 2827-2828).

between the kitchen and dining room (T 2774); a bra and bra strap were found near Powell's feet, along with the contents of a purse (T 2786, 2795); a yellow shirt was found at Powell's head. (T 2785, 2793). Blood on the shorts was consistent with Powell's blood type. (T 3115). Blood on the shirt was consistent with Larson's blood type. (T 3116). A two-inch void of blood or anything else on Powell's wrists indicated she was bound during the attack. In the kitchen were fresh groceries, including apples and bananas. (T 2803-2805). William Frank Hamilton, the medical examiner, testified that Sonya Larson died of multiple stab wounds.⁵ (T 3566). In her right arm, there were four thrusts that went completely through the arm and three puncture wounds. There were five stab wounds, closely grouped, through the right breast, which penetrated the lungs and the heart. There was a four-inch wound beneath the left breast and beneath that a smaller stab wound of one inch in length. (T 3564). Approximately two quarts of blood had accumulated in the left pleural space. (T 3559). On the front surface of the left thigh was a slash measuring about five by two-and-a-half inches. (T The wounds were made with a fairly large knife, at least 3564). an inch thick. At the autopsy, Hamilton suggested the ideal

⁵Dr. Hamilton examined each crime scene before the bodies were moved and performed autopsies on each victim. (T 3558).

candidate would be a marine Ka-Bar knife. (T 3560).

When asked whether Larson was awakened or defended herself during the attack, Hamilton said the wound pattern in the arm was what he would expect to find if the arm had been brought up over the chest, perhaps in a reflex mode, if one were asleep. Hamilton said some of the wounds in the breast were from the thrusts that initially entered the arm. (T 2561). The leg wound did not indicate Larson defended herself or fought off the attack. (T 3566-3567). In Hamilton's opinion, the whole group of injuries could have occurred in a very short blitz-style attack in less than half a minute. Larson probably lost consciousness very rapidly, within a minute, if that long. (T 3567).

Although Larson's T-shirt was pulled upward, exposing her chest, the shirt had slits or tears corresponding to the injuries on her body, indicating the shirt was on the body in a normal fashion when she was stabbed. It appeared she had been pulled down to the edge of the bed after the attack and draped over the edge of the bed frame. (T 3577).

Christina Powell had a cluster of five stab wounds to the mid-back with perforation of the right lung, ligature marks on both wrists, small bruises on right and left legs, and a superficial cut on the right wrist. (T 3568, 3570). The wounds

appeared to have been made by the same type of weapon used on Larson. (T 3569). Hamilton could not tell in which order the blows were struck. Two wounds had short wound tracks. Two entered the lung, one of which was seven-and-a-half inches in length. Another wound track entered the right pleural space but did not puncture the lung, probably because the lung already had collapsed. Associated with this wound was an accumulation of blood in the right pleural space. (T 3571-3572). In Hamilton's opinion, Powell did not die as quickly as Larson and may have been conscious for a few minutes, perhaps a little less. (T 3572). A towel and a bottle of dish detergent were between Powell's legs and a sticky fluid in the whole pubic region. (T 3573).

Crime Scene 2

Elbert Hoover, the owner and manager of Christa Hoyt's duplex, testified that Hoyt's back yard was surrounded by a 6- to 7-foot fence. The only way to the backyard, other than over this fence, was through a gate to a storage area on the side of the apartment. The storage area was fenced with a chain link fence, which was stapled to the inside of a tree but could be unhooked and let down to get to the backyard. Hoover said he spoke to Hoyt around 5 p.m. on Saturday, August 25, 1990, because the gate was unlatched and he had noticed it unlatched several days before

as well. Hoyt said she had not unlatched it but the telephone repairman had been there that day. (T 2660-2867). That night, Hoyt played racquetball with a friend and returned home around 10 p.m. (T 2875-2976). She was wearing dark shorts, a shirt with a logo in the left corner, and white tennis shoes. (T 2875, 2879).

When Hoyt failed to report to work at the sheriff's department the following Sunday evening, Deputy O'Hara was dispatched to check on her. (T 2882). Mr. Hoover heard O'Hara knocking on Hoyt's door around 1 a.m. and came outside. Hoover noticed the gate was unlatched and the chain link fence down. (T 2869, 2870). They walked around to the sliding glass door leading into the rear of the apartment. O'Hara shined a flashlight into the apartment where the blinds were raised ten to eighteen inches and saw Hoyt's unclothed body on the edge of the bed, in a sitting position, clearly dead. (T 2888-2889, 2894-2895).

Crime scene investigators found a racquetball racket and can of balls near the front door, which was locked. (T 2900, 2910). There was a recessed area near the front door, where a bookshelf had been located. (T 2910). The bookshelf had been moved through the kitchen, down the hall, and into the bedroom. (T 2913). Some of the items in the bookcase were on the floor

near the bookcase, others were in the southeast corner of the room, including picture frames in a pillowcase that had been on the bed. (T 2914). The sliding glass door was identified as the point of entry based upon pry marks found on the door and door frame. (T 2914-2915). A pair of shorts and a balled-up T-shirt with tear marks were found on the bed. A used tampon was found on the floor near the wall. Torn panties were on the floor. Α portion of a bra was at the foot of the bed; another portion under a book bag on the floor. (T 2817-1818). The body was posed on the bed in a sitting position, with shoes and socks on. A large pool of blood emanating from the feet area was on the floor, leading from the doorway into the bedroom, and from the front of the closet to the foot of the bed. Settling of blood in the back indicated the body had been lying flat for a period of time before it was moved and posed. (T 2921).

Dr. Hamilton testified that Hoyt died from a single stab wound to the back. (T 3579). The wound was seven-and-one-half inches in length and penetrated the aorta, left lung, and left breast. The wound was consistent with the wounds in Larson and Powell and could have been produced by the same weapon. There was a smaller superficial wound on the right arm. (T 3582). On Hoyt's back was a pattern of lividity, or discoloration, indicating the body was lying on its back for a while after

death, then moved to a sitting position. Sperm cells were found in the vaginal smear. (T 3584). Dr. Hamilton said Hoyt's survival interval would have been quite brief; she would have lost consciousness in probably less than half a minute. (T 3607).

Crime Scene 3

Tracy Paules spent the weekend at Merritt Island, arriving home around 9:30 p.m. on Sunday, August 26. (T 3084). She spoke to a number of friends and relatives on the phone, including a friend from Ft. Lauderdale, Lisa Buyer, who called around midnight and told her about the first two murders.⁶ They talked on the phone until shortly before 1 a.m. (T 2993, 3085). Paules's roommate, Manual Taboada, who was bartending at Bennigan's that night, clocked out at 1:24 a.m. and was seen on Archer Road, between Bennigan's and the Gatorwood Apartments, around 1:30 a.m. (T 3085-3086). A man in the apartment directly above Paules and Taboada heard a scream between 2 and 3 a.m., went out on the balcony, did not hear anything else, and went back to bed.⁷ (T 3088). When Paules failed to return Buyer's phone calls Monday or Tuesday, Buyer called Tom Carroll, a friend

⁶Christa Hoyt's body had not yet been discovered. Hoyt's body was found about the same time Paules and Taboada were killed.

⁷The witness's girlfriend had asked him to come stay at her apartment after she found out about the first two homicides. (T 3088).

in Gainesville, and asked him to check on Paules. (T 2994). Carroll went to Paules's apartment early Tuesday morning, and the maintenance man opened her apartment and discovered her body. (T 3003-3004).

Crime scene investigators found Paules's body on the floor in the hallway. Taboada's body was on the bed in his bedroom. (T 3009-3010). The doorway leading to Paules's bedroom was damaged and appeared to have been forced open using bodily force. Blood on the door was consistent with Taboada's blood type. (T 3018-3019, 3118). The locking mechanism was on the floor in front of the door and the door was open. (T 3061). Paules's bed was covered with blood. The carpet was blood-stained as if her body had been dragged from the bedroom into the hallway by her (T 3028). There was adhesive on her wrists and a towel feet. between her legs. (T 3056). A blood-stained towel was found in the bathroom on the toilet. (T 3060). A curling iron, paper bag, and other items were found on the floor in the hallway. (T 3063). The curtains in Paules's bedroom had been taped shut with silver duct tape. (T 3065). The contents of her purse had been dumped on the bed after the stabbing. (T 3066). A white blood-stained T-shirt was on the floor in her bedroom. (T 3070). Blood on the T-shirt was consistent with Taboada's blood type. (T 3116-3117).

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