IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 29 1996

DANNY HAROLD ROLLING,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPSEME COURT

v.

CASE NO. 83,638

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-1778

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE HOMICIDE OF SONJA LARSON WAS ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND	
CRUEL	'3
ISSUE VI

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

right to counsel when he gave statements to law enforcement on January 31 and February 4, 1993. Rolling argues: "This issue that the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress because inmate Bobbie Lewis elicited discriminatory statements from him while acting as a government agent," resulted in Rolling's Sixth Amendment rights being violated. First and most importantly, this issue is not properly preserved for appellate review. Rolling pled guilty and as such has waived any infirmity with regard to any pretrial motions even dealing with issues of a constitutional magnitude. See Krawczuk, supra.

Assuming arguendo that the court will provide a cursory review of the issue, on pages 159-185 of Appellant's Brief, Rolling restates facts surrounding his motion to suppress statements made on January 18, 1993, January 31, 1993, February 4, 1993, and all written and oral statements to Bobby Lewis. Citing Massiah v. United States, 377 U.S. 201 (1964), and United States v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264 (1980), he asserts that Bobby Lewis was a government agent and Rolling was "particularly susceptible to the ploy" of this undercover government agent. (Appellant's Brief at 195).

Lewis and Binstead were interviewed by members of the Task Force between July 1992-October 1992 to determine if these two inmates had any information. Lewis' attorney, Mr. Robert Link, had called the prosecutor's office asking for a deal for Lewis during

Fortunately, the trial court, after discussing the applicable law, in particular, <u>United States v. Henry</u>, <u>supra</u>,; <u>Maine v. Moulton</u>, 474 U.S. 159 (Fla. 1985), and <u>Kuhlmann v. Wilson</u>, 477 U.S. 436 (1986), reached a contrary conclusion and determined that no Sixth Amendment violation occurred. The court observed:

With respect to those statements made to Lewis prior to January 18, 1993, the court finds that the defendant's privilege against selfincrimination was not abrogated by state agents because as stated above, Lewis was at no time an agent of the State when he obtained the statements from the defendant. Further, even if Lewis were an agent of the State, the statements were not made by the defendant as a of custodial interrogation. result Illinois v. Perkins, 110 S.Ct. 2394 (Fla. 1990), the United States Supreme reviewed a claim that statements were obtained in violation а defendant of the from selfagainst defendant's privilege incrimination. In Perkins, the defendant was not incarcerated pending trial on a charge of aggravated battery. Law enforcement officers had reason to suspect him of having committed a murder, unrelated to the battery. In order obtain statements from the defendant relating to the murder, law enforcement

this time. He was informed that no deal would be forthcoming for any information from Lewis. <u>See</u> Link's testimony at suppression hearing. Clearly, what was proven at the suppression hearing was Binstead's and Lewis' involvement with Rolling and "their" the intent to benefit from such a relationship. While the "motive" was selfish for Binstead and Lewis, the facts remain clear, the State was not involved. <u>More importantly</u>, Rolling knew all about Binstead's and Lewis' motives and indicated that he wanted to help them.

officials placed an undercover police officer in his cell block. The undercover officer posed as a fellow prisoner. While in the cell block, the officer questioned the defendant, and obtained statements in which the defendant admitted the murder. In approving the procedure against the claim of a Fifth Amendment violation, the court noted that "Miranda" forbids coercion, not mere strategic deception by taking advantage of a suspect's misplaced trust in one he supposes to be a fellow prisoner. Since the defendant had not been charged with the murder, the Sixth Amendment right to counsel did not apply. court held that, so long as the statement was voluntary, the Fifth Amendment was satisfied, and Miranda warnings were not required.

(Supp. Record 1443-1444). See also United States v. Stubbs, 944

F.2d 828, 831-832 (11th Cir. 1991) (Fifth Amendment is not implicated when an incarcerated person speaks freely to another undercover agent or a cell mate who is not an undercover agent but a confidential informant. "Miranda and Fifth Amendment concerns are not implicated when a defendant misplaces her trust in a cell mate who then relays the information - - whether voluntarily or by prearrangement -- to law enforcement officials.").

With regard to the January 18, 1993, statement, the court found that Rolling's privilege against self-incrimination was not violated.

First, although the defendant was in custody, the defendant himself sought the meeting with law enforcement officers and

initiated the conversation with the officers. Law enforcement officers were first notified of the defendant's request when they were told, by Captain Davis, that he had received a request from the defendant from Lewis. law enforcement officers were first informed of this request, they asked Captain Davis to verify the request by asking the defendant directly if that was what he wanted. Captain Davis, therefore, asked the defendant if he wished to initiate contact with law enforcement personnel. On being asked by Captain Davis whether the defense wished to talk with task force investigators, the defendant replied 'Yes sir, I do and God bless you, Captain.'

The only questions asked by officers were asked in an effort to clarify the list of conditions submitted by the defendant to the officers, a list which had previously been written out by Lewis and the defendant and signed by the defendant. The defendant was setting out the conditions under which he would be willing to make statements to law enforcement officers. When the conditions were made clear, the officers informed the defendant that they could not comply with them and that they would make him no promises. They took no further statements, terminated the interview, and did not question the defendant about the homicide. Under these facts, there was no custodial interrogation of the kind prescribed by Miranda v. Arizona and subsequent cases. Id.

(Supp, Record at 1444-1445). <u>See also Peterka v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 59 at 66-67 (Fla. 1994); <u>Davis v. United States</u>, 512 U.S. ____, 102 L.Ed.2d 362, 114 S.Ct. ____ (1994).

As to the January 31, 1993, statements, the court first found that the defendant initiated contact with law enforcement officers by requesting that they meet and that Rolling controlled the direction of the conversation through his "presentation of his conditions for giving further statements" (Supp. Record at 1445). Rolling was handed a copy of his "prior notice of invocation" and he read it aloud. Law enforcement officers also provided a written copy of the Miranda rights which he also read aloud. 12 "Once the officers indicated that they would permit him to speak through Lewis provided that he verified what Lewis said, the defendant readily agreed to waive his right to remain silent.13 An analysis of the recordings and transcript of the interview show clearly that the defendant understood what he was doing and that he only made a knowing and voluntary waiver, but he affirmatively wished to waive his privilege in order that Lewis would be able to delay his statements to law enforcement officers." (Supp. Record at 1446).

 $^{^{12}\,}$ Rolling signed the waiver of his right to counsel on the back of each Invocation of Counsel form on January 31, 1993, and February 4, 1993 (TR 3212-3216).

Rolling initiated contact with outside law enforcement for the January 18, January 31 and February 4 meetings. On the February 4, 1993, videotape, Rolling states plainly that he did not want defense counsel called and suggests that the agents call his lawyers only after the interview.

The trial court found a similar scenario on February 4, 1993, when law enforcement officers spoke with Rolling. (Supp. Record at 1446).

Rolling argues that statements made through Bobby Lewis and verified by him violated his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. a result of Massiah v. United States, 377 U.S. 201 (1964), any inquiry as to validity to Rolling's assertion must be premised on whether "law enforcement agents" deliberately elicited incriminating statements from him in the absence of his lawyer. United States v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264 (1980), the court applied the Massiah test to inculpatory statements made to a jailhouse informant, striking the confession because the police, through the informant, elicited incriminating information from the defendant without the presence of counsel by stimulating conversation about the crimes. In <u>Maine v. Moulton</u>, 474 U.S. 159 (1995), the court further explained that Massiah and the Sixth Amendment are violated whenever the government either "intentionally creates" "knowingly exploits" an opportunity to confront the defendant without counsel. In Kuhlmann v. Wilson, 477 U.S. 436 (1986), the court clarified the facts necessary to find a Massiah violation:

The primary concern of the <u>Massiah</u> line of decisions is secret interrogation by investigatory techniques that are the

equivalent of direct police interrogation. . . A defendant does not make out a violation of that right simply by showing that an informant, either through prior arrangement or voluntarily, reported his incriminating statements to the police. Rather, the defendant must demonstrate that the police and their informant took some action, beyond merely listening, that was designed to elicit incriminating remarks.

The court ultimately held no <u>Massiah</u> violation where a jailhouse informant is placed in close proximity to a defendant but makes no effort to stimulate conversation on the crime charged.

In the instant case, <u>Kuhlmann v. Wilson</u> controls. <u>See United</u>

<u>States v. Stubbs</u>, 944 F.2d 828 (11th Cir. 1991) (no Sixth Amendment right to counsel violation where defendant made admissions to her jailhouse cellmate after her right to counsel had attached);

<u>Brooks v. Kincheloe</u>, 848 F.2d 940, 944-945 (9th Cir. 1988), wherein the court held:

This case more closely resembles <u>Kuhlmann v.</u> <u>Wilson</u> (cite omitted) . . . State appellate court found that 'the police in this case did not intentionally create a situation likely to induce the defendant into making incriminating statements.' <u>Brooks</u>, 38 Wash. App. at 262, 684 P. 2d at 1371. The findings made by the state court established that Kee was not a government agent at the time that Brooks made the incriminating statements concerning the murder of Bryan Miller. While these findings indicate that Kee did take action beyond mere listening, they also clearly demonstrate that he did this before the detectives talked to

him. The findings also established that the detectives did not request Kee to elicit any information from the defendant. In addition, the state court findings make it clear that Kee was not promised any payment at the time the detective spoke to him.

Given the facts of this case, Brooks cannot establish any Sixth Amendment violation. 'The Sixth Amendment is not violated whenever -- by luck or happenstance -- the State obtains incriminating statements from the accused after the right to counsel has attached.' Maine v. Moulton (cite omitted) 848 F.2d at 945.

See also Sanchez v. United States, 50 F.3d 1448 (9th Cir. 1995);

Muehleman v. State, 503 So.2d 310, 314 (Fla. 1987); Bottoson v.

State, 443 So.2d 962, 965 (Fla. 1983) (United States v. Henry "does not apply to unsolicited statements made to a cellmate who is neither paid nor instructed by the government"); Duboise v. State, 527 So.2d 260, 263 (Fla. 1988); Copeland v. State, 457 So.2d 1012, 1017-18 (Fla. 1984).

Rolling also argues that suppression is warranted because of the prosecutor's ethical violation in authorizing and participating in the interviews of Rolling on January 18, January 31 and February 4, 1993. (Appellant's Brief at 200-201). Citing to Rule 4-4.2 and Rule 4-5.3 of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Florida Bar, Rolling argues that Mr. Nilon violated the prosecutor's

professional ethics by interrogating the accused known to be represented by counsel. This allegation is wanting. Mr. Nilon did not participate in the actual meeting with the defendant, and he was there to merely respond to questions of the investigators as The trial court concluded that Nilon's action in no way infringed on the Rules of Professional Conduct. Moreover, "as legal advisor to law enforcement officers, he made himself available to render such advice as appropriate under circumstances. Mr. Nilon was careful to ensure that he did not participate in any of the interviews with the defendant, but was available to advise law enforcement officers should such advice be sought." The fact that Mr. Nilon was in geographic proximity to the sight of the interview, rather than merely being available to render advice by phone, does not rise to the level of a violation of the Code of Professional Responsibility. (Supp. Record at 1451). Citing to Suarez v. State, 481 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 1985), Rolling acknowledges that this Court held that a violation of a disciplinary rule does not require suppression of statements. More importantly, however, the facts in Suarez are distinguishable from the instant case.

Albeit, the State has engaged in extensive discussion with regard to the appropriateness of the trial court denying Rolling's

motion to suppress his statements, it cannot be reiterated enough that this issue has not been preserved for appellate review because Rolling pled guilty. None of the evidence introduced at the penalty phase regarding these statements impacted any of the aggravating factors that were proven beyond a reasonable doubt and unassailed here. Additionally, unlike Castro v. State, 547 So.2d 111, 116 (Fla. 1989), the admissions of these statements in no way "... tended to negate the case from mitigation" and "thus may have influenced the jury in its penalty phase deliberations." In fact, no allegations of this nature have been raised by Rolling.

Based on the foregoing, all relief must be denied as to this claim because it has not been preserved for appellate review.

These confessions/statements were not the sole evidence that the State introduced to prove any of the aggravators. In fact, the crime scenes speak for themselves. Physical evidence presented proved the five murders, three sexual batteries and three burglaries. Evidence placed Rolling in Gainesville, Florida in August 1990; physical evidence placed him at the crime scenes, and a plethora of evidence demonstrated that Rolling armed himself and intended the consequences of these crimes.

Terminally, it cannot be overlooked that Rolling has challenged only one aggravating factor, HAC as to Sonja Larson, and it seems unlikely that even if this Court found these admissions were in violation of <u>Massiah</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court would still be bound to find that the confessions are not dispositive Rolling has <u>not</u> challenged the voluntariness of his guilty pleas or moved to withdraw them.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING ROLLING'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE PHYSICAL EVIDENCE SEIZED FROM HIS TENT.

Rolling next argues that the trial court erred in failing to suppress physical evidence seized from a tent and the curtilage of his campsite on the grounds that the warrantless search and seizure of the items violated Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution and the Fourth and Fifteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. Once again, this issue has not been preserved for appellate review because Rolling pled guilty. Krawczuk v. State, supra.

Following an evidentiary hearing pretrial on October 28-29, 1993, the trial court denied Rolling's motion (TR 1772-1782). In order to get around this waived claim, Rolling argues at page 226 of his brief that "the error in denying the motion to suppress was unquestionably prejudicial since the evidence seized, <u>i.e.</u>, black clothing, screw-driver, duct tape, and tape-recording were introduced at the penalty phase and heavily relied upon by the State to establish the CCP aggravator (T 4983-4986), and by the trial court in its sentencing order. (R 3203-3204). Such a nexus is wanting for a number of reasons. First, the physical evidence gathered at the campsite and in the tent merely corroborated

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